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1. Anderson v. Dunn, 6 Wheat. (19 U.S.) 204, 228 (1821).
2. 2 U.S.C. §194 (2000).
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Peterson, “Prosecuting Executive Branch Officials for Contempt of Congress,” 66 N.Y.U. L.
Rev. 563 (1991), and John C. Grabow, Congressional Investigations: Law and Practice
86–99 (1988).

6

The 
Contempt Power

When the executive branch refuses to release information or allow officials
to testify, Congress may decide to invoke its contempt power. Although the
legislative power of contempt is not expressly provided for in the Constitution
and exists as an implied power, as early as 1821 the Supreme Court recognized
that without this power the legislative branch would be “exposed to every in-
dignity and interruption that rudeness, caprice, or even conspiracy, may me-
diate against it.”1 If either House votes for a contempt citation, the President
of the Senate or the Speaker of the House shall certify the facts to the appro-
priate U.S. Attorney, “whose duty it shall be to bring the matter before the
grand jury for its action.”2 Individuals who refuse to testify or produce papers
are subject to criminal contempt, leading to fines of not more than $100,000
and imprisonment up to one year.3

This chapter begins by covering contempt actions, from 1975 to 1981,
against six Cabinet officers who refused to surrender documents to Congress:
Secretary of Commerce Rogers C. B. Morton, HEW Secretary F. David Math-
ews, Secretary of State Henry Kissinger, HEW Secretary Joseph A. Califano,
Jr., Secretary of Energy Charles W. Duncan, Jr., and Secretary of Energy James
B. Edwards. With contempt citations looming, the two branches reached a
compromise settlement that gave Congress access to the documents. The re-
mainder of the chapter focuses on more recent contempt actions, including
Secretary of the Interior James Watt, Administrator of the Environmental Pro-
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4. Letter of July 24, 1975, from Secretary Morton to John E. Moss, chairman of the
Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations, House Committee on Interstate and For-
eign Relations, reprinted, “Contempt Proceedings Against Secretary of Commerce, Rogers

tection Agency Anne Gorsuch, White House Counsel Jack Quinn, and Attor-
ney General Janet Reno.

The contempt action against Gorsuch revealed a weakness in the statutory
procedures that Congress relies on for contempt, especially when the interests
of the Justice Department are directly at stake. Citing an executive official for
contempt requires the executive branch—through a U.S. Attorney—to bring
the action. In the Gorsuch case, which challenged executive privilege doctrines
developed by the Justice Department, action was not taken by the executive
branch until a federal judge nudged the two parties toward an accommodation.

Actions from 1975 to 1981

From 1975 to the start of the Reagan administration, Congress several times
threatened to hold executive officials in contempt for refusing to cooperate with
congressional committees. In the face of statutory and constitutional reasons
offered by the administration for withholding information from Congress, in
the end the committees persisted and gained access to the requested documents.
To minimize some of these disputes in the future, Congress amended statutory
language to clarify the right of legislative committees to agency information.

Rogers C. B. Morton

A 1975 tug of war between the branches, with Congress the eventual vic-
tor, concerned reports compiled by the Department of Commerce identifying
the U.S. companies that had been asked to join a boycott—organized by Arab
nations—of companies doing business with Israel. Secretary of Commerce
Rogers Morton refused to release the documents to a House Interstate and
Foreign Commerce subcommittee, citing the following language from Section
7(c) of the Export Administration Act of 1969: “No department, agency, or
official exercising any functions under this Act shall publish or disclose infor-
mation obtained hereunder which is deemed confidential or with reference to
which a request for confidential treatment is made by the person furnishing
such information, unless the head of such department or agency determines
that the withholding thereof is contrary to the national interest.”4
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C. B. Morton,” hearings before the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations of the
House Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, 94th Cong., 1st Sess. 153 (1975).

5. Id. at 153–54 (emphasis in original).
6. Id. at 158.
7. Id.
8. Id. at 4.
9. Id. at 6.

10. “Contempt Proceedings Against Secretary of Commerce, Rogers C. B. Morton,” at
173. Levi’s opinion is also reprinted at 43 Op. Att’y Gen. 29 (1975).

In his letter of July 24, 1975, to the subcommittee, Morton said he under-
stood the need to provide Congress “with adequate information on which to
legislate,” but concluded that “disclosing the identity of reporting firms would
accomplish little other than to expose such firms to possible economic retali-
ation by certain private groups merely because they reported a boycott request,
whether or not they complied with that request.”5 Morton’s response implied
that whatever he gave the subcommittee would be shared with the public.

On July 28, the subcommittee issued a subpoena. In a letter to the com-
mittee on August 22, Morton again reiterated his refusal to release the docu-
ments, explaining that his decision was not based “on any claim of executive
privilege, but rather on the exercise of the statutory discretion conferred upon
me by the Congress.”6 In other words, based on discretionary authority
granted him by Congress, he would deny information to a legislative com-
mittee. He said he was prepared to make copies of the documents available,
“subject only to deletion of any information which would disclose the iden-
tity of the firms reporting, and the details of the commercial transactions in-
volved.”7

At subcommittee hearings on September 22, Chairman John Moss told Sec-
retary Morton that Section 7(c) did not “in any way refer to the Congress nor
does the Chair believe that any acceptable interpretation of that section could
reach the result that Congress by implication had surrendered its legislative
and oversight authority under Article I and the Rules of the House of Repre-
sentatives.”8

Morton told Moss that he had been advised by Attorney General Edward
Levi not to make the documents available to the committee.9 In a letter dated
September 4, 1975, Levi had advised Morton that the subpoena did not over-
ride the confidentiality requirement of Section 7(c), and that the committee
was not entitled to receive the information “unless, in exercising the discre-
tion granted by §7(c), you determine that withholding them would be ‘con-
trary to the national interest.’ ”10 Levi cited some earlier opinions by Attorneys
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11. “Contempt Proceedings Against Secretary of Commerce, Rogers C. B. Morton,” at
173–74.

12. Id. at 137.
13. 1975 CQ Almanac, at 343– 44. See also 121 Cong. Rec. 3872–76, 36038–39, 40230,

40768– 69 (1975).
14. 91 Stat. 241, §113 (1977), amending 83 Stat. 845, §7(c) (1969). Contempt actions

against Morton, Duncan, Watt, and Gorsuch are also explored by Peter M. Shane, “Nego-
tiating for Knowledge: Administrative Responses to Congressional Demands for Informa-
tion,” 44 Adm. L. Rev. 197, 202–12 (1992).

15. “Contempt Proceedings Against Secretary of HEW Joseph A. Califano, Jr.,” 95th
Cong., 2d Sess. 55 (Comm. Print No. 95-76, 1978).

16. “Mathews Subpoena,” CQ Weekly Report, November 22, 1975, at 2527.

General that “proceeded under the general assumption—which I share—that
statutory restrictions upon executive branch disclosure of information are pre-
sumptively binding even with respect to requests or demands of congressional
committees.”11 An argument of that nature will almost always lead to trouble
for an executive official.

On November 11, the subcommittee voted 10 to 5 to find Morton in con-
tempt for failure to comply with the subpoena of July 28.12 The prospect of con-
tempt proceedings provided sufficient incentive for Morton to release the ma-
terial to the subcommittee.13 To avoid this problem in the future, Congress
passed legislation in 1977 to specify that Section 7(c) does not authorize the
withholding of information from Congress, and that any information obtained
under the Export Administration Act “shall be made available upon request to
any committee or subcommittee of Congress of appropriate jurisdiction. No
such committee or subcommittee shall disclose any information obtained under
this Act which is submitted on a confidential basis unless the full committee de-
termines that the withholding thereof is contrary to the national interest.”14

David Mathews

On the same day that the House Subcommittee on Oversight and Investi-
gation decided to cite Morton for contempt, it met to consider a separate con-
tempt citation against F. David Mathews, Secretary of the Department of
Health, Education, and Welfare (HEW).15 The subcommittee, concerned that
some hospitals were receiving Medicare payments automatically without meet-
ing federal standards for the Medicare program, wanted letters Mathews had
received from the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals (JCAH).16

Turning first to his agency general counsel for legal advice, Mathews was
told not to release the documents to the subcommittee. In a letter of October
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17. Id. at 60– 61 (letter of October 17, 1975, from Acting General Counsel John Bar-
rett to Secretary Mathews).

18. Id. at 59– 60 (letter of October 17, 1975, from Mathews to Rep. John E. Moss,
Chairman of the Oversight and Investigations Subcommittee).

19. Id. at 56 (letter of November 12, 1975, from Levi to Mathews).
20. Id.
21. “Mathews Subpoena,” CQ Weekly Report, November 22, 1975, at 2527.

17, 1975, the general counsel limited his analysis to statutory construction.
He interpreted a confidentiality section in the Social Security Act as “on its
face an absolute pledge of confidentiality” because it contained no exceptions,
either for Congress or the judiciary.17 On the same day that Mathews received
this legal guidance, he wrote to the subcommittee that he had been advised
that “it would be a violation of the law for me to furnish you these JCAH doc-
uments given in confidence.”18

The subcommittee subpoenaed the material, setting a deadline of 10 a.m.
on November 12. On the day of the deadline, Attorney General Levi advised
Mathews to produce the documents to the subcommittee. Levi read the statu-
tory language “on a confidential basis” as placing in the HEW Secretary a dis-
cretionary authority to assure that the information is “not to be made public
but may be conveyed to the Congress on proper request.”19 Levi’s analysis of
the statutory provision “on its face” differed fundamentally from Mathew’s gen-
eral counsel. Levi said this about the reliance on the confidentiality provision:

It seems to me unlikely that reliance included some belief that the in-
formation could be kept out of the hands of the Congress, since it
was apparent upon the face of the statute, that Congress knew the ex-
istence of these documents and the identity of their sole possessor. It
was obvious that the Congress could as easily subpoena the informa-
tion from JCAH itself as from HEW. Or, to place the matter in its
present context: It is apparent that if we now find, by reason of the
statute, the Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce cannot
obtain the information from HEW, they can immediately subpoena
it from JCAH itself. There hardly seems any purpose to be served by
such a circuitous procedure, and I think it would be unreasonable to
assume that in enacting the vague and weak confidentiality provision
of this statute, and referring specifically to JCAH, the Congress in-
tended it.20

Mathews, by making the information available to the subcommittee, re-
moved the threat of a House vote on the contempt citation.21



116 THE POLITICS OF EXECUTIVE PRIVILEGE

22. H. Rept. No. 94-693, 94th Cong. 4–5 (1975).
23. “Kissinger’s Tenure, U.S. Foreign Policy Are Clouded by House Panel’s Citations,”

Wall Street Journal, November 17, 1975, at 5.
24. H. Rept. No. 94-693, at 13.
25. Id. at 2. See “Kissinger Contempt Citation,” CQ Weekly Report, November 15, 1975,

at 2506.
26. George Lardner, Jr., “Committee Votes Contempt Action for Kissinger,” Washing-

ton Post, November 15, 1975, at A6.
27. Public Papers of the Presidents, 1975, II, at 1867.

Henry Kissinger

On November 6, 1975, the House Select Committee on Intelligence issued
a subpoena to Secretary of State Henry Kissinger, directing him to provide:
“All documents relating to State Department recommending covert action
made to the National Security Council and the Forty Committee and its pred-
ecessor committees from January 20, 1961 to the present.” The Forty Com-
mittee made recommendations to the President on specific covert actions.22

The subpoenaed documents were referred to the White House for review.
Attorney General Levi examined the documents and recommended that ex-
ecutive privilege be invoked. A letter to Kissinger on November 14 from White
House Counsel Philip Buchan confirmed in writing the President’s instruc-
tion to Kissinger to decline compliance with the subpoena.23 At stake were ten
documents, dating from 1962 through 1972, consisting of recommendations
from State Department officials to the Forty Committee, its predecessor (the
303 Committee), or to the President.24

When Kissinger failed to provide the documents by the deadline established
in the subpoena (November 11), the committee met in open session on No-
vember 14 to determine what action to take against him. By a vote of 10 to 2,
the committee recommended that the Speaker certify the committee report
regarding Kissinger’s contumacious conduct and proceed to a contempt cita-
tion.25 Kissinger objected that the subpoena raised “serious questions all over
the world of what this country is doing to itself and what the necessity is to
torment ourselves like this month after month.”26

Acting on the advice of the Justice Department, President Gerald Ford
invoked executive privilege on November 14 to keep the material from the
committee. In a letter to the committee dated November 19 and released
November 20, he said that release of the documents, which included “rec-
ommendations from previous Secretaries of State to previous Presidents,”
would jeopardize the internal decisionmaking process.27 A few days later, in a
letter to the committee, Ford cautioned that the dispute “involves grave mat-
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28. Id. at 1887.
29. Id.
30. Id. at 1889.
31. Id. at 1889–90.
32. Id. at 1890.
33. John M. Crewdson, “Three-Count Contempt Citation of Kissinger Defended in

House,” New York Times, November 18, 1975, at 15.
34. Judy Gardner, “Pike Pushes Kissinger Contempt Citations,” CQ Weekly Report, No-

vember 22, 1975, at 2572.
35. “Contempt Vote on Kissinger is Linked to Data Ford Gives,” New York Times, De-

cember 10, 1975, at 12.
36. Pat Towell, “Contempt Action Against Kissinger Dropped,” CQ Weekly Report, De-

cember 13, 1975, at 2712.
37. Id. at 2711.

ters affecting our conduct of foreign policy and raises questions which go to
the ability of our Republic to govern itself effectively.”28 Recognizing that Con-
gress had constitutional responsibilities “to investigate fully matters relating to
contemplated legislation,”29 Ford told the committee that he directed Kissinger
not to comply with the subpoena on the grounds of executive privilege be-
cause the documents “revealed to an unacceptable degree the consultation
process involving advice and recommendations to Presidents Kennedy, John-
son, and Nixon.”30 Ford pointed out that some of the documents concerned
the National Security Council (NSC) and that, as of November 3, Kissinger
was no longer his National Security Adviser.31 As to those materials, “there has
been a substantial effort by the NSC staff to provide these documents.”32

Kissinger dismissed the contempt proceeding “an absurdity”33 and “frivo-
lous,” warning that it would have adverse effects worldwide: “I profoundly re-
gret that the committee saw fit to cite in contempt a secretary of state, raising
serious questions all over the world what this country is doing to itself.”34 On
December 9, three committee members and two staff members visited the
White House to determine which documents would be made available.35 The
next day, they received an oral briefing on the information that had been the
target of the subpoena and an NSC aide read verbatim from documents con-
cerning the covert actions.36 On December 10, the committee chairman an-
nounced that the White House was in “substantial compliance” with the sub-
poena and that the contempt action was “moot.”37
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38. “Contempt Proceedings Against Secretary of HEW Joseph A. Califano, Jr.,” 95th
Cong., 2d Sess. 42 (Comm. Print No. 95-76, 1978).

39. Id. at 1–2.

Joseph A. Califano, Jr.

In 1978, a subcommittee of the House Committee on Interstate and For-
eign Commerce began an investigation into the manufacturing process used
by drug companies to make generic drugs and to price brand-name drugs.
The panel examined charges that drug companies merely put trade names on
drugs manufactured by generic drug firms and sold them at much higher
prices. One way to claim manufacturing responsibility was for a trade name
company to put an employee in a generic drug house while the product was
being manufactured. Rep. Al Gore explained the subcommittee’s interest:
“What we are seeking to do is to determine whether or not the public is being
fleeced by a process whereby brand name drug companies are getting generic
drugs and calling them special brand name drugs simply because they resort
to the rule of having one of their employees stationed at the generic drug plant
as the drugs are being made.”38

In order to learn more about this “man-in-the-plant” strategy, the sub-
committee requested documents from the Department of Health, Education,
and Welfare (HEW). The subcommittee had both oversight and legislative in-
terests. A bill (H.R. 12980) had been introduced to limit or eliminate the man-
in-the-plant practice.39 In July, subcommittee chairman John Moss sent sev-
eral letters to HEW Secretary Joseph A. Califano, Jr. for the documents.
Califano’s involvement added a rich irony. A few years earlier, when Moss
sought trade secret data from the FTC, the dispute eventually went to court
in the case of Ashland Oil, Inc. v. FTC, discussed in Chapter 5. The private at-
torney the subcommittee hired to represent its interest in court was Califano.
He and Moss now found themselves on opposite sides of a similar dispute.

Failing to receive the material, the subcommittee agreed on July 27 to sub-
poena Califano. The full committee issued a subpoena dated August 4. In a
memo of August 9, the Justice Department advised HEW that language in the
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, prohibiting FDA employees from disclosing
trade secret information, justified the withholding of the material from the sub-
committee. Section 301(j) of that statute prohibited the “using by any person
to his own advantage, or revealing, other than to the Secretary or officers or
employees of the Department, or to the courts when relevant in any judicial
proceeding under this chapter, any information acquired under authority [of
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40. 21 U.S.C. §331(j) (1976).
41. Id. at 7, 10 (letter from Acting Attorney General Michael J. Egan to HEW Under

Secretary Hale Champion).
42. Id. at 13 (memorandum of August 7, 1978 from Morton Rosenberg, Legislative At-

torney for the Congressional Research Service, to Rep. John Moss).
43. Id. at 43.
44. Id.

specified sections] of this title concerning any method or process which as a
trade secret is entitled to protection.”40 The Justice Department memo argued:

Where an agency is barred by statute from disclosing certain in-
formation, congressional committees have no right to that informa-
tion unless there is a clearly expressed congressional intent to exclude
committee access from the general restriction on disclosure. . . .

. . . Indeed, it is significant that section 301(j) explicitly provides for
disclosure to one of the coordinate branches of government, i.e., the
courts, but makes no comparable provision for disclosure to com-
mittees of the Congress.41

This memo relied in part on Attorney General Levi’s memo in 1975 on the
Rogers Morton contempt action. If that position were to stand, Congress
would lose access to documents covered by many other statutes. At that time,
about a hundred statutory sections contained confidentiality provisions that
could be interpreted by the executive branch to deny committees information
they needed for legislation and oversight.42 The subcommittee therefore felt
an obligation to challenge the Justice Department analysis. As Gore put it to
Califano:

Mr. Secretary, in our society, laws, principles, and rights are often
in conflict. We have two in conflict in this instance.

On the one hand we have article I of the U.S. Constitution. On
the other we have section 301(j) of the Federal Food and Drug Cos-
metic Act.

You have chosen to place more importance on section 301(j) of the
Federal Food and Drug Cosmetic Act than on article I of the U.S.
Constitution.43

The purpose of Section 301(j), Gore said, was to prevent FDA employees
from giving confidential trade secrets to competitor drug companies, not to
keep from Congress information that is readily available to the HEW Secre-
tary.44 At a meeting with the subcommittee on August 16, Califano produced
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45. Id. at 4.
46. Id. at 5.
47. Id. at 18.
48. Id. at 48.
49. Id. at 49.
50. Id. at 49, 51.
51. Id. at 19.
52. Id.
53. Id. at 87. See “House Panel Votes Contempt Citation Against Califano,” Wall Street

Journal, August 17, 1978, at 5; Mary Russell, “House Panel Backs Contempt Citation After
Califano Refuses to Yield Data,” Washington Post, August 17, 1978, at A2; “Moss v. Cali-
fano” (editorial), Washington Post, August 18, 1978, at A18.

some material but also stated that any documents relating to trade secret in-
formation and the manufacturing process would be blackened out because of
the Justice Department legal analysis.45 Chairman Moss made it clear that the
blackened-out material did not comply with the subpoena.46 Califano explained
that his refusal to release the unredacted material had nothing to do with sep-
aration of powers or executive privilege, but rather with the statutory language
that prohibited the release of trade secret information. Congress, he said, “has
the power to change that statute.”47 Califano said he had no question about the
committee keeping information confidential: “Your record is impeccable.”48

During the discussion with Califano, one subcommittee member asked
whether the confrontation between the two branches could be averted if the
subcommittee subpoenaed the companies directly for the manufacturing
process information. Subcommittee counsel John McElroy Atkisson answered
that it would be possible, and that the companies would have no legal ground
for defying such subpoenas, but said it “flies in the teeth of the idea. . . that the
Congress would exclude itself from the very same information conveniently
in the hands of the Secretary which is only down the block here.”49 Chairman
Moss added that the Justice Department analysis opened “a pandora’s box” to
a hundred similar statutes that could be used to deny information to Congress.
Moreover, accepting Califano’s suggestion to rewrite the statute would take
the committee from an option that enjoys privileged status in the House (a
contempt citation) to the process of amending a statute, which is not privi-
leged and could take a year or two.50

Moss told Califano that he was “without legal justification in your refusal
to comply with the subcommittee’s subpena.”51 Califano persisted in his re-
fusal, stating that he was “bound to follow the opinion of the Attorney Gen-
eral.”52 The subcommittee then voted 9 to 8 to find Califano in contempt for
failing to comply with the subpoena.53 A month later, the subcommittee
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54. “House Unit Ends Bid To Cite for Contempt HEW Chief Califano,” Wall Street Jour-
nal, September 22, 1978, at 10.

55. 43 Op. Att’y Gen. 116 (1978).
56. “The Petroleum Import Fee: Department of Energy Oversight,” hearings before a

Subcommittee of the House Government Operations Committee, 96th Cong., 2d Sess. 3,
27 (1980).

57. Id. at 5.
58. Id. at 35. See Richard L. Lyons, “On Capitol Hill,” Washington Post, April 18, 1980,

at A5.

dropped the contempt action after Califano turned over the materials that had
been subpoenaed. Califano explained that a further review by the department
of the withheld material disclosed that some information had been “inappro-
priately deleted” from documents given to the panel.54

On August 17, the day after the subcommittee voted for contempt, Cali-
fano asked the Justice Department to further consider its interpretation of Sec-
tion 301(j). On September 8, Attorney General Griffin Bell cited additional
legislative history in affirming the position of Acting Attorney General Michael
J. Egan that the section prohibited Califano from furnishing trade secret data
to Congress or its committees.55 Notwithstanding that legal analysis, Califano
gave the disputed material to the subcommittee.

Charles W. Duncan, Jr.

On April 2, 1980, President Carter imposed a fee on imported oil and gaso-
line in an effort to reduce domestic consumption. A subcommittee of the House
Government Operations Committee requested in writing, on April 8, certain
categories of material from the Department of Energy (DOE). With no docu-
ments delivered, the subcommittee held a hearing on April 16 to investigate the
delay. Thomas Newkirk, the department’s Deputy General Counsel for Regu-
lation, told the subcommittee that he was “not prepared to submit the docu-
ments at this time” because White House Counsel Lloyd Cutler was reviewing
a pile of documents “between a foot and 18 inches high.”56 Newkirk thought
the documents might be subject to the claim of executive privilege because they
revealed the “deliberative process underlying the President’s decision to impose
the gasoline conservation fee.”57 The subcommittee voted unanimously to in-
struct Newkirk to deliver the documents by 5 o’clock that evening.58

After the department let the deadline slip, the subcommittee voted unani-
mously on April 22 to subpoena the materials from Energy Secretary Charles
W. Duncan, Jr. On the following day, the subcommittee received 28 docu-
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59. “The Petroleum Import Fee,” hearings, at 100.
60. Id. at 98–100.
61. Id. at 116–17; Richard D. Lyons, “House Unit Subpoenas Duncan,” New York

Times, April 25, 1980, at D3.
62. “The Petroleum Import Fee,” hearings, at 122.
63. Id. at 123.
64. Id.
65. Id. at 139. See “House Unit Cites Duncan For Gas-Tax Contempt,” New York Times,

April 30, 1980, at D18.
66. “The Petroleum Import Fee,” hearings, at 142. See also Dale Tate, “President’s Oil

Import Fee Assailed in Congress, Court,” CQ Weekly Report, May 17, 1980, at 1308; Elder
Witt, “Carter Foiled in First Tilt With Executive Privilege,” CQ Weekly Report., May 17,
1980, at 1352.

ments but also a letter from Duncan explaining that to the extent the sub-
committee request involved “deliberative materials underlying a major Presi-
dential decision,” it would “seriously undermine the ability of the Chief Exec-
utive and his Cabinet Officers to obtain frank legal and policy advice from
their advisors.”59 Newkirk appeared before the subcommittee on April 24 to
state that the department would not comply in full with the subcommittee’s
request of April 8, but did not rest his case on executive privilege.60 By a vote
of 9-0, the subcommittee subpoenaed Duncan to appear before the subcom-
mittee on April 29 and bring the requested documents.61

In the face of these bipartisan, unanimous subcommittee votes, Duncan ap-
peared at the April 29 hearing to tell the subcommittee: “I must decline to turn
over the documents and I do not have them with me at this time.”62 However,
he also offered to allow the subcommittee chairman and the ranking minority
member to review the documents “in confidence to assist in defining that re-
quest.”63 Rep. Paul McCloskey (the ranking minority member) objected that
“the idea that two members of a nine-member committee should be trusted
and some should not be is repugnant to the rules of the House.”64 After further
efforts to reach an accommodation collapsed, the subcommittee voted 8 to 0 to
hold Duncan in contempt for not complying with the April 24 subpoena.65

The subcommittee held another hearing on May 14, with Secretary Dun-
can again in attendance. Subcommittee chairman Toby Moffett announced
that “at long last the subcommittee has been provided with every document
it feels it needs to conduct its inquiry. Subcommittee members and staff have
seen every document specifically demanded under the subpena we issued April
24, and any document we deemed useful to this investigation has now been
produced.”66 On the previous day, a federal district court had struck down
Carter’s April 2 proclamation as invalid, either under the President’s inherent
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power or under statutory authority.67 A White House spokesman said that he
didn’t think executive privilege was ever formally asserted, either by President
Carter or Secretary Duncan, although there was consideration of doing so.68

In any event, the subcommittee received the material it requested.69

James B. Edwards 

The following year, at the start of the Reagan administration, Secretary of
Energy James B. Edwards narrowly avoided a contempt citation from the
House Government Operations Committee. The dispute involved legislative
access to documents regarding contract negotiations between the Energy De-
partment and the Union Oil Company to build an oil shale plant in Colorado.
Committee members were concerned that the department was moving too
hastily in awarding billions of dollars in federal subsidies to major oil compa-
nies, particularly prior to the Reagan administration’s plans to create a Syn-
thetic Fuels Corporation.70 Failing to obtain the requested materials, the En-
vironment, Energy and Natural Resources Subcommittee voted 6 to 4 on July
23 to hold Edwards in contempt.

The dispute was not merely executive-legislative. The administration was
also split. Edwards wanted to sign the contract, but OMB Director David
Stockman opposed federal subsidies to the synthetic fuels program and had
taken steps to block the contract with Union Oil.71 The full committee was
scheduled to vote on the contempt citation on the morning of July 30, 1981.
Edwards said he would not produce the documents until the contract between
the Energy Department and Union Oil had been signed. President Reagan
agreed to the project and officials from the Energy Department and Union
signed the contract. At that point, thirteen boxes of documents on the con-
tract negotiations were delivered to the committee.72
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James Watt

In 1981, Interior Secretary James Watt refused to give a House subcom-
mittee 31 documents relating to a reciprocity provision in the Mineral Lands
Leasing Act. The reciprocity provision involved Canada. Watt based his re-
fusal on the judgment of Attorney General William French Smith that the
documents were “either necessary and fundamental to the deliberative
process presently ongoing in the Executive Branch or relate to sensitive for-
eign policy considerations.”73 Smith’s decision led to President Reagan’s first
claim of executive privilege.74 The confrontation escalated to a recommen-
dation by the House Committee on Energy and Commerce to cite Watt for
contempt.

Attorney General Smith insisted that “the interest of Congress in obtaining
information for oversight purposes is, I believe, considerably weaker than its
interests when specific legislative proposals are in question.”75 Congressional
oversight, he said, “is justifiable only as a means of facilitating the legislative
task of enacting, amending, or repealing laws.”76 That argument lacked his-
torical and legal support. The first major investigation by Congress—of Gen-
eral St. Clair’s defeat—was not conducted for the purpose of legislation. The
Supreme Court recognizes that the power of Congress to conduct investiga-
tions “comprehends probes into departments of the Federal Government to
expose corruption, inefficiency, or waste.”77 Courts have consistently held that
the investigative power is available not merely to legislate or when a “poten-
tial” for legislation exists, but even for pursuits down blind alleys.78 Moreover,
Congress could easily neutralize Smith’s argument by introducing a bill when-
ever it wanted to conduct oversight.

Smith’s second major argument for withholding the documents was based
on the need to protect the deliberative process, especially “predecisional, de-
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liberative memoranda.” Even after decisions have been made, disclosure of
documents to Congress “could still deter the candor of future Executive
Branch deliberations.”79 While Exemption 5 of FOIA exempts from public dis-
closure “inter-agency or intra-agency memorandums or letters which would
not be available by law to a party other than an agency in litigation with the
agency,”80 Congress specifically provided in FOIA that the listed exemptions
are “not authority to withhold documents from Congress.”81 Congress has
often gained access to predecisional, deliberative memoranda in the executive
branch.82

As a third point, Smith argued that the documents “relate to sensitive for-
eign policy considerations.”83 However, foreign policy is not an exclusive
power of the President or the executive branch. In seeking the documents
from Watt, Congress had a constitutionally-based need for the information:
its power to “regulate Commerce with foreign Nations.”84 Throughout its his-
tory, Congress has legislated on international trade, foreign assistance, arms
sales, and other matters of foreign policy.

In response to Smith’s legal position, the subcommittee prepared a con-
tempt citation against Watt.85 Some of the documents, during this period,
were shared with the subcommittee. On February 9, 1982, the subcommittee
voted 11 to 6 to hold Watt in contempt.86 By that time, all but seven of the 31
subpoenaed documents had been given to the subcommittee.87 On February
25, the full committee voted 23 to 19 for contempt.88 White House Counsel
Fred Fielding offered to brief committee members on the seven documents,
but lawmakers rejected his offer.89
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Although Watt said he would rather go to jail than surrender the remain-
ing materials,90 those documents were reviewed by subcommittee members.
The administration established several conditions. The documents would be
delivered to a room in the Rayburn House Office Building, where committee
members would have four hours to examine the documents and take notes.
Lawmakers could not photocopy the documents or show them to committee
staff. Also, the committee agreed not to release any information that might
harm the national interest in dealing with Canada.91

A newspaper account reports that the ranking Republican on the sub-
committee, Marc L. Marks, concluded there was “nothing sensitive in these
documents. Watt would have given over the papers had the White House not
intervened.”92 During a committee meeting, Marks attributed the impasse
with Watt to “an irrational decision made by the White House, put into ef-
fect by a President who I cannot believe understood the ramifications of what
he was doing.”93 Marks regretted the decision to exclude staff, calling it “il-
legal because . . . the first person that we are going to turn to that everybody
expects us to turn to to discuss what the papers show, will naturally be our
staff person.”94 Rep. Mike Synar pointed out that “23 members of the Inte-
rior Department and other departments saw these documents. We found in
one case it was a law student, an intern at the time, who later became an of-
ficial.”95

Gorsuch Contempt

The experience with James Watt should have given the executive branch a
better appreciation of legislative prerogatives. It was not to be. Senior attor-
neys in the Justice Department decided that their theory of executive privi-
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lege, having failed spectacularly with the Watt documents, had been correct
all along. They waited for an opportunity to try it again, this time with per-
haps greater success. Their second attempt came at great cost to many officials
in the executive branch.

When the oversight subcommittee of the House Public Works Committee
sought documents on the EPA’s enforcement of the “Superfund” program, it
was advised by the agency that there would be no objection “so long as the
confidentiality of the information in those files was maintained.”96 The sub-
committee had been investigating the $1.6 billion program established by Con-
gress to clean up hazardous-waste sites and to prosecute companies responsi-
ble for illegal dumping.

Shortly thereafter the Reagan administration decided that Congress could
not see documents in active litigation files. The administration’s reversal may
have been triggered by subpoenas from other committees for comparable doc-
uments. Another oversight panel from the House Energy and Commerce
Committee wanted access to the same type of information. The administra-
tion expressed concern that executive branch control would be undermined
by these multiple requests.97 Both oversight subcommittees had reason to sus-
pect that the major chemical companies were not paying their full share of the
costs, requiring taxpayers to pick up the balance.98

EPA Administrator Anne Gorsuch, acting under instructions from Presi-
dent Reagan (meaning the Justice Department), refused to turn over “sensi-
tive documents found in open law enforcement files.” Reagan’s memorandum
to her, dated November 30, 1982, claimed that those documents represented
“internal deliberative materials containing enforcement strategy and state-
ments of the government’s positions on various legal issues which may be
raised in enforcement actions relative to the various hazardous waste sites” by
the EPA or the Department of Justice.99 On December 2, the administration
withheld 64 documents from the subcommittee.100 The administration’s ini-
tial, discredited position in the Watt dispute had not changed. It still assumed
that since documents shared with Congress might find their way into the pub-
lic realm, they should not be shared at all. Following that logic, congressional
oversight would have to be put on hold for years until the government com-
pleted its enforcement and litigation actions.
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By a vote of 9 to 2, a subcommittee of the House Public Works Commit-
tee decided to cite Gorsuch for contempt.101 The full committee did likewise,
after rejecting a Justice Department proposal to give briefings on the contents
of the documents.102 The House of Representatives voted 259 to 105 to sup-
port the contempt citation. Although partisan overtones were present, 55 Re-
publicans joined 204 Democrats to build the top-heavy majority.103 Pursuant
to the statutory procedures for contempt citations, the Speaker certified the
facts and referred them to the U.S. Attorney for presentation to a grand jury.

The Justice Department, anticipating the House vote, moved quickly: “Im-
mediately after the House vote and prior to the delivery of the contempt cita-
tion,”104 the department chose not to prosecute the case. Instead, it asked a
district court to declare the House action an unconstitutional intrusion into
the President’s authority to withhold information from Congress.105 U.S. At-
torney Stanley S. Harris, responsible for bringing the case to the grand jury,
listed his name on the Justice Department complaint and advised Congress
that “it would not be appropriate for me to consider bringing this matter be-
fore a grand jury until the civil action has been resolved.”106

The Justice Department faced a conflict of interest. First it had advised Gor-
such to withhold the documents, and now it decided not to prosecute her for
adhering to the department’s legal analysis. In court, the department argued
that the contempt action marked an “unwarranted burden on executive priv-
ilege” and an “interference with the executive’s ability to carry out the laws.”
Counsel for the House of Representatives urged the court not to intervene, re-
questing it to dismiss the case.107

The court dismissed the government’s suit on the ground that judicial in-
tervention in executive-legislative disputes “should be delayed until all possi-
bilities for settlement have been exhausted.”108 The court urged both parties
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to devote their energies to compromise and cooperation, not confrontation.109

After the court’s decision, which the Justice Department chose not to appeal,
the administration agreed to release “enforcement sensitive” documents to the
House Public Works Committee, beginning with briefings and redacted copies
and eventually ending with the unredacted documents, which could be ex-
amined by committee members and up to two committee staff persons.110

The House Energy and Commerce Subcommittee on Oversight and Inves-
tigation, chaired by Rep. John Dingell, refused to accept an agreement with
all these hoops. The documents covered by the subpoena were to be delivered
to the subcommittee. There were to be no briefings and no multi-stage process
of redacted documents leading to unredacted documents. The subcommittee
agreed to handle any “enforcement sensitive” document in executive session,
giving it confidential treatment. Even so, the subcommittee reserved for itself
the right to release such documents or use them in public session, after pro-
viding “reasonable advance notice” to the EPA. If the agency did not agree, the
documents would not be released or used in public session unless the chair-
man and ranking minority member concurred. If they did not concur, the
subcommittee could vote on the release and use in public session. With re-
gard to staff access, that would be decided by the chairman and ranking mi-
nority member.111

One of the casualties of the House investigation into the Superfund pro-
gram was former EPA official Rita M. Lavelle. The House Energy and Com-
merce Committee voted unanimously to find her in contempt for defying a
committee subpoena to testify.112 The House voted 413 to zero to hold her in
contempt.113 She was sentenced in 1984 to six months in prison, five years’
probation, and a fine of $10,000 for lying to Congress about her management
of the Superfund program. She was the only EPA official indicted in the scan-
dal, but more than 20 other top officials, including Anne Gorsuch, left the
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EPA amid allegations of perjury, conflict of interest, and political manipula-
tion of the agency.114

Following the Gorsuch contempt, the Office of Legal Counsel wrote an
opinion on May 30, 1984, concluding that as a matter of statutory interpre-
tation and separation of powers analysis, a U.S. Attorney is not required to
bring a congressional contempt citation to a grand jury when the citation is
directed against an executive official who is carrying out the President’s deci-
sion to invoke executive privilege.115 The memo regarded the threat of crimi-
nal prosecution from a congressional contempt citation as an “unreasonable,
unwarranted, and therefore intolerable burden” on the President’s exercise of
constitutional authority, pointing out that Congress “has other methods avail-
able to test the validity of a privilege claim and to obtain the documents that
it seeks.”116 If an administration defies a committee subpoena, what effective
methods exist other than contempt? The memo cautioned that its analysis was
“limited to the unique circumstances that gave rise to these questions late in
1982 and early 1983,”117 and suggested that “prudence” should limit the con-
clusions in the memo “to controversies similar to the one to which this mem-
orandum expressly relates, and the general statements of legal principles
should be applied in other contexts only after careful analysis.”118

Travelgate and Jack Quinn

The House Committee on Government Reform and Oversight conducted
an investigation into the 1993 firings of seven Travel Office employees in the
Clinton White House. Although President Clinton had full authority to fire
the employees, the manner of their discharge led to investigations by Con-
gress, the General Accounting Office, the press, and the independent counsel.
On May 19, 1993, they were dismissed with the charge that they followed poor
management practices. Dee Dee Myers, Clinton’s press secretary, also stated
that the FBI had been asked to examine the records in the Travel Office, sug-
gesting that the employees might have been guilty of criminal action as well.
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The way the White House replaced the seven employees soon raised charges
of nepotism and cronyism.119

The House Committee on Government Reform and Oversight received the
documents it requested from the Justice Department and other federal agencies,
but in September 1995 the White House informed the panel that President Clin-
ton might claim executive privilege and refuse to turn over some or all of 907
documents.120 In January 1996, the committee subpoenaed the records from the
White House, and in May it announced that it would hold the White House in
contempt unless it turned over the materials.121 White House Counsel Jack Quinn
drafted a remarkably insolent letter and sent it to Committee Chairman William
F. Clinger, Jr.: “Let me be blunt: this threat can only be characterized as a des-
perate political act meant to resuscitate interest in a story that long ago died.”
Quinn objected to a legislative inquiry that had become, he said, “a tiresome fish-
ing expedition” and a “wild good chase.”122 On May 9, the committee voted 27
to 19 to hold Quinn in contempt as well as two others: former White House Di-
rector of Administration David Watkins and his aide, Matthew Moore.123

Clinger offered to delay the next step—sending the contempt citation to
the House for a vote—to leave open the possibility of an accommodation with
the White House.124 He offered to have Quinn come to the committee before
floor action.125 Thereafter, the administration released about 1,000 pages of
documents to the committee just hours before the House was scheduled to
take up the contempt vote.126
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Contempt Action against Reno

Late in 1997, Attorney General Janet Reno responded to a subpoena from
the House Government Reform and Oversight Committee, chaired by Rep.
Dan Burton. She declined to give the committee a memorandum sent to her
by FBI Director Louis J. Freeh, who had urged the appointment of an inde-
pendent counsel to investigate allegations of criminal conduct in campaign fi-
nance. Justice Department officials said that both Reno and Freeh advised the
committee that it was inappropriate to provide a congressional committee with
a departmental document that included analysis about an ongoing investiga-
tion. They agreed on the need to withhold the document because of “the need
to protect the confidentiality and independence of an ongoing investigation
and our prosecutorial decisionmaking.”127

On July 27, 1998, the Justice Department refused to turn over two internal
documents that recommended the appointment of an independent counsel in
the campaign finance investigation. The House committee had subpoened a
27-page memo to Reno by Freeh and a 94-page report by Charles G. LaBella,
former head of the department’s campaign finance task force. Instead of turn-
ing over the two documents, the Justice Department offered to brief the com-
mittee members on the contents of the memos. Burton rejected the pro-
posal.128

After the department’s refusal to release the documents, the House com-
mittee voted 24 to 19 on August 6 to cite Reno for contempt. She warned that
release of the documents would “provide criminals, targets and defense
lawyers alike with a road map to our investigations.”129 Again, this response
assumed that whatever the committee received, so would the public. Reno
offered to brief the committee in public session “on the legal rationale” pre-
sented in the two memos, but only after she had made a decision on whether
to seek an independent counsel.130 At a news conference, she said that for a
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committee to ask for an internal department document before she reached a
decision “is a form of political tampering that no prosecutor in America can
accept.”131

The following month, Reno gave Chairman Burton access to heavily
redacted versions of the memos, leaving him roughly thirty percent to read.132

Burton asked Reno to allow three former prosecutors and a former White
House deputy counsel to review the memos and give their opinions to him
and to the House Republican leadership. She rejected that proposal.133 She did
agree, however, to allow six other Republican members of the committee to
view the redacted copy, but insisted that Burton withdraw the subpoena and
drop the contempt citation.134 After these attempts to find common ground
failed, Burton moved forward with the contempt citation. Although the com-
mittee recommended holding Reno in contempt, the matter was not taken to
the floor for House action.

As part of the impeachment action against President Clinton, members of
the House Judiciary Committee were allowed to read the Freeh and LaBella
documents. On December 2, 1998, U.S. District Judge Norma Holloway John-
son granted the committee limited access to the two memos.135 On June 6,
2000, the House Government Reform Committee released the Freeh and La-
Bella memos along with other Justice Department documents related to the
refusal to appoint an independent counsel to investigate campaign finance is-
sues of the 1996 presidential election.136 WorldNetDaily made the two memos
available to the general public on its website (www.worldnetdaily.com).
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Committee subpoenas and contempt citations have been effective instru-
ments for gaining access to executive branch documents that are initially with-
held. The pressure that builds from these two techniques generally results in
the administration offering accommodations that satisfy legislative needs. Al-
though both branches at times seek assistance from the courts, the general
message from federal judges is that an agreement hammered out between the
two branches is better that a directive handed down by a court. The contempt
actions discussed in this chapter all resulted in access to disputed documents.

Executive-legislative conflicts offer several lessons about access to informa-
tion. Congress has as much right to agency documents for oversight purposes
as it does for legislation. Executive claims of “deliberative process,” “enforce-
ment sensitive,”“ongoing investigation,” or “foreign policy considerations” have
not been, in themselves, adequate grounds for keeping documents from Con-
gress. On the issue of withholding information from Congress, there are often
sharp differences within an administration, especially between the Justice De-
partment and the agencies.

Statutory language that authorizes withholding information from the pub-
lic is not a legitimate reason for withholding information from Congress.
Sharing sensitive information with congressional committees is not the same
as sharing information with the public. Courts assume that congressional
committees will exercise their powers responsibly. Legislative committees have
demonstrated that they have reliable procedures for protecting confidential-
ity. Finally, congressional capacity to subpoena agency documents from pri-
vate organizations is not an adequate substitute for receiving them directly
from the agency.




